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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

KENNETH ELLIOTT,
Plaintiff, : Civil Action No.: 15-1731RC)
V. : Re Document No.: 18

R. ALEXANDER ACOSTA! Secretary,
United States Department of Labor

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING IN PART AND DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT’SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Kenneth Elliott, an African American mad&d an employee of the U.S.
Department of Labor (“DOL"), alleges thBOL discriminated againstim on the basis of race
andor sex when ifailed © select him for threseparatgpromotions. DOL moves for summary
judgment,offering qualificationbased explanations for each hiring decisighile DOL is
entitled to summary judgment with respectwo of the hiring decisions, the Court finds that
DOL improperly destroyed interview nottsat corroboratés rationale fortie one remaining
decision, that Plaintiff is entitled to an inference that the notes would havéneanitaormation
favorabkto his claim, and that his claim regardigt position survives DOL’s motion.

Accordingly, the Court grants in part and denies in part DOL’s motion.

1 Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 25(d), R. Alexander Acosta is sutbstitute
as Secretary for his predecessor Thomas Perez.
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[I. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Kenneth Elliotthas been a Labor Economist in the DOL'’s Bureau of Labor
Statistics (“BLS”) Office of Compensation and Working Conditions since March 18ED
Affidavit of Kenneth Elliott (“Elliott Aff.”) at 2, Ex. E, ECF No. 18-2He is currently employed
at the GS13 grade level Elliott Aff. at 2.

In March 2014, the BLS, Office of Compensation and Working Conditions, Office of
Compensation Levels and Trends (*OCLT") posted Vacancy Announcement No. lABSt4-
CW-018, which advertised two GS-14 positions: the positiddrahch Chief for Survey
Information and Publication$Branch Chief for S&P”) in the Division of Compensation Data
Analysis and Planning and the positiorBoanch Chief for Data Capture and Review (“Branch
Chief for DCR”)in the Division of Compensation Data Estimatidex. A, ECF No. 18-2. The
BLS Division of Human Resources and Organization Management prepared asitifjate
of eligible candidategovering both vacancie#\ffidavit of Phillip Doyle, (“Doyle Aff.”) at 3
Ex. B, ECF No. 18-2Mr. Elliott appliedfor and was deentkeligible for both positionsSee
Elliott Aff. at 3.

Phillip Doyle—a white man who was thersgistant Commissioner for OCHfwas
involved in selecting candidates for the Branch Chief for SI&P positlate Frances Harris-
an African American woman who is Division Chief of Compensation and Data Estinnat
OCLT—was involved in selecting candidates for the Branch Chief for DCR poshioyle Aff.
at1-2; Affidavit of Frances Harris (“Harris Aff.”), -3, Ex. C, ECF No. 18-2. Mr. Doyle and
Ms. Harris eaclndependently reviewettie list ofeligible applicantgo identify candidates to
jointly interview. Doyle Aff. at 4 Mr. Doyle and Ms. Harris also jointly prepared interview

guestions to aséll candidates. Doyle Aff. &; Affidavit of Frances Harris (“Harris Aff.”) at 3,



Ex. C, ECF No. 18-2Likewise, Mr. Doyle and Ms. Harris conducted intervidagetherand
discussedeactions to theandidats after the interviews Doyle Aff. at3; Harris Aff.at2, 8.

Thirteen or fourteemdividuals interviewed with Ms. Harris and Mr. Doyl®oyle Aff.
at 11(listing fourteen intervieweesHarris Aff. at10 (listing thirteen interviewees). Of the
candidates, Mr. Doyle selected Jesus RafHemandez, &lispanic male, for the position for
Branch Chief for SI&P. Doyle Aff. at 12; Pl.’s Statement of Materiat&a Dispute (“Pl.’s
SMF") 1 22. According to Mr. Doyle, Mr. Randtlernandez was selected based on his superior
interview. In his interview, Mr. RanoHernandeZdemonstrated his ability to juggle multiple
projects by citing examples from his current position and during a previous assigimm
OCLT],” “provided details of the types of projects he coordinated and the challenges they
presented,” and “used a rgiaying strategy to demonstrate how he would coach and mentor an
employee.” Doyle Aff. at 12. Mr. Randdernandez also explained the challenges he faced as a
new employee in another BLS office and explained how he worked with BLS stefidlve
problems, gain the confidence of others, and encourage the development of junior stigff. Do
Aff. at 12. In addition, Mr. Ranokternandez described what Mr. Doyle regarded as aKieyv
approach to dealing with conflict that included non-confrioonial factfinding and an emphasis
on problem resolution.” Doyle Aff. at 12.

Though Mr. Doyle observed th&o varying degre€sMr. Elliott met most of tle
requirements for thBranch Chief of SI&P position, Mr. Doyl@escribedVr. Elliott’s interview
in less than glowing termend inferior to that of Mr. Ranon-Hernandez. According to Mr.
Doyle, Mr. Elliott demonstrated only “some ability to juggle conflicting assignments” and only
“for limited periods.” Doyle Aff. at 10. Likewise, according to Mr. Doyle, Miidgt failed to

“demonstrate how he would coach and mentor an employee.” Doyle Aff. at 10. In Jie:Do



opinion, Mr. Elliott’s response to a hypothetical conflict situation “provided ligtaid” Doyle
Aff. at 10. In addition, Mr. Doyle was surprised to hear Mr. Elliott mention duringnteeview
his “past performance [and] past conduct issues,” aadhsattendance issues ahi$ non-
completion of a BLS leadership development program. Doyle Dep., Ex. 7 at 59:15-60:8.

After Mr. Doyle had‘'made [his] selectiowlecision to choose Jesus Rarternandez,”
hereports that h@ad a discussion with Mr. William Wiatrowski, Associate Commissioner,
Senior Executive Service at BLS aldldl. Doyle’simmedide superior. Doyle Aff. at 8; Affidavit
of William J. Wiatrowski (“Wiatrowski Aff.”) at 2, Ex. 8ECF No. 22-10. Mr. Doyle states that
he “informed Mr. Wiatrowski about the reasons that [he] had chosen Mr. Ranon-Hernandez,” but
he “did not dscuss with M. Wiatrowski the reasons that [he] did not choose the other candidates
who were interviewed.” Doyle Aff. at 8. According to Mr. Doyle, “Mr. Waatrski did not
have any objections to [the] selection decision and he concurred with it.” Ddylat 8f

Of the candidates interviewed for the position of Branch Chief for INGRHarris
selected Neil Mcintyre, a white man. Harris Aff. at 10. According to Msiigiér. Mcintyre
was selected because, among other things, he was “a seasoned team leagldiredggip-day
production for nearly 15 years.” Harris Aff. at 12. Ms. Harris also reportetilgdahat Mr.
Mcintyre had“both broad and specific, current and historical knowledge of review processes,
systems, and tools,” artbat “he has leveragetis knowledg€. Harris Aff. at 12. In addition,
Mr. Mcintyre “focuse[d] on building a team, leverage[d] the unique strengfteach team
member, and s[ought] opportunities to coach, mentor, direct, and enfiptiveeieam as a whole
to higher performance.” Harris Afat 12. Ms. Harris observed that Mr. Mcintyre had “long
standing experience leading and developing larger teams consisting dabamginstaff

employees.” Harris Aff. at 12By contrast, Ms. Harris reportedly believed that Mr. Elli@ti h



“dated” knowledge of certain subjectblarris Aff. at 12. She also found that wHildr.
Mclintrye focused attention on building, guiding, bringing togetbaitaborating and leading
people to success,” “Mr. Elliott mainly focused on how he indiviguatcomplished assigned
tasks, but did not present thorough examples which demonstrated his ability to cadlabibrat
and develop the skills of other staff membenddrris Aff. at 12-13. Furthermore, in his
interview, Mr. Elliott “did not note extensive or recent familiarity with all the relevan
production processes” and “did not provide answers that reflected the desired erpeitienc
team development” or “highlight achievements that reflected his ability to matizgys to
achieve results.” Has Aff. at 9.

Like Mr. Doyle, Ms. Harris consulted with others before extending Mr. Mclrawreffer
of employment. Specifically, Ms. Harrshared her top two candidateith Mr. Doyle, who was
Ms. Harris’simmediatesupervisor. Harris Aff. at 7. However, according to Ms. Harris, “Mr.
Doyle had no input on [her] consideration of [Mr. Elliott] or any other candidate.tig-ef. at
8. Ms. Harrisalso presenteMr. Wiatrowski—her secondine supervisor-with a proposed
justification document, whichblarified the reasornhatshe had selected M¥icintyre.
Wiatrowski Dep. 51:13-52:11, Ex. 4, ECF No. 228y email, Ms. Harris requested “any
comments or suggested changes” on the justification document. Wiatrowski Dep. 51:17-52:1;
see alsdViatrowski Dep.59:2-14 (acknowledging that, under DOL’s selection process Ms.
Harrisofficially “ma[d]e a recommendation to [Mr.] Doyle, [Mr.] Doyle ha[d] a discussigh w
[Mr. Wiatrowki], [then] it [was] signed off by the commissioner”). Mr.i&dt learned of his
non-selection for both positions in May 2013eeElliott Aff. at 7.

That same monththe BLS posted Vacancy Announcement No. MB1&-CW-062,

which advertised the position of Branch Chief for Procedures and Progranopreeeit



(“Branch Chief for PPD”)n the OCLT’s Division of Compensation Data Analysis and Planning.
Ex. K, ECF No. 18-3.Mr. Elliott appliedfor and was deemed eligible for the position. Elliott
Aff. at 10-11. Bryandt Dickerson, an African American woman agdipervisory Economist at
the GS15 level,received the certificate of eligib@andidatesand conducted all ninaterviews
for the position. Elliott Aff. at 10; Affidavit of Bryandt Dickerson (“Dickersorf Afat 1-2, 12,
17, Ex. M, ECF No. 18-3. Of the candidates, MxkBrson selected Renee Marshall and did
not select Mr. Elliott. Dickerson Aff. d4. Ms. Dickerson offered that she did not select Mr.
Elliott because he lacked recenbromic survey experience, which she gleaned because during
his interview Mr. Elliott seed unable to provide her wigtxamples of his experience working
with recent survey data. Dickerson Aff. at 14; Dickerson Dep., 63318-65:2166:5 Ex. N,
ECF No. 18-4. According to Ms. Dickersofajfter [she] made [her] selection decision,” she
shared her reasons for selecting Ms. Marshall with Mr. Doyle and Mr. Wiatrdwski
supervisors in her chain of command. Dickerson Aff. at 14. However, her “discussionsrwith M
Doyle and Mr. Wiatrowski did not positively or adversely impact [Mr. Elliptisn-selection
for the position.” Dickerson Aff. at 14.

Mr. Elliott initiated the EEO complaint process on May 9, 2014. ComplD®f7's
Answer to Pl.’'s Am. Compl. (“Def's Answer”) 7. The next month, he filed a fororalptaint
of discrimination. Compl. § 7; Def.’s Answer § 7. The Final Agency Decision in thismzas
issued in July 2015. Compl § 7; Def.’s Answer § 7. Birott filed the present actioim

October 2015 .Currently before th€ourt is DOL’s motion for summary judgment.



[ll. LEGAL STANDARDS
A. Summary Judgment

A court may grant summary judgment when “the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mattér éiedw
R. Civ. P. 56(a). A “material” fact is one capable of affecting the substantieenoeitof the
litigation. SeeAnderson v. Liberty Lobby, In&77 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). A dispute is
“genuine” if there is enough evidence for a reasonable jurgtton a verdict for the non-
movant. SeeScott v. Harris 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007). The inquiry under Rule 56 is essentially
“whether the evidence presents a sufficient disagreement to require sabruss jury or
whether it is so one-sided that qreaty must prevail as a matter of lawAhderson477 U.S. at
251-52.

The principal purpose of summary judgment is to streamline litigation by dispdsing o
factually unsupported claims or defenses and determining whether therenisreegesed for
trial. SeeCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 323—-24 (1986). The movant bears the initial
burden of identifying portions of the record that demonstrate the absence of amegsesue of
material fact. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1%elotex 477 U.S. at 323. In response, the party
opposing summary judgmemtust point to specific facts in the record that reveal a genuine issue
that is suitable for trialSeeCelotex 477 U.S. at 324. In doing so, the nonmovant may not rely
on “statements that are inmpassible hearsay or that are not based on personal knowledge.”
Shulerv. District of Columbia744 F. Supp. 2d 320, 327 (D.D.C. 2010).considering a motion
for summary judgment, a court must “eschew making credibility detenamsadr weighing the
evidence,”Czekalski v. Peterg 75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007), and all underlying facts and

inferences must be analyzed in tight most favorable to the nonmovaséeAnderson477



U.S. at 255. Nevertheless, conclusory assertions offered without any evidentiany doppo
establish a genuine issue for trifeeGreene v. Daltonl64 F.3d 671, 675 (D.C. Cir. 1999).
B. Title VIl Framework

Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 184 promises that “[a]ll personnattions affecting
employees . . . shall be made free from any discrimination based on race, colon,reéyg, or
national origin.” 42 U.S.C. § 200086(a). To prevail on a claim brought under Title VII, a
plaintiff must show that he suffered an adverse employment action because of his race, color,
religion, sex, or national originBaloch v. Kempthorné50 F.3d 1191, 1196 (D.C. Cir. 2008).
Direct evidence of discrimination generally entitles the plaintiff to atjual, SeeVatel v. All.
of Auto Mfrs, 627 F.3d 1245, 1247 (D.C. Cir. 2011). In the absence of direct evidence of
discrimination, courts typicallgssess a claimnder the burden-dting framework established
in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greedll U.S. 792, 802—-04 (1973)nder that framework, a
plaintiff is required to first make outmima faciecase of discrimination by showing that he “(1)
is a member of a protected class; (2) suffered an adverse employment actibiat &B)the
unfavorable action gives rise to an inference of discriminatidlufriddin v. Bolden818 F.3d
751, 758 n.6 (D.C. Cir. 2016). Qathe plaintiff establishesmima faciecase of
discrimination, the burden shifts to the employer to supply “some legitimate, nomanstory
reason for the [action in question]Wiley v. Glassman511 F.3d 151, 155 (D.C. Cir. 2007)
(alteration in original). After themployer makes such a showitigg plaintiff must show that
“the legitimate reasons offered by the defendant were not its true relasowere a pretext for
discrimination.” George v. Leavitt407 F.3d 405, 411 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quotifgx. Dept of

Cmty. Affairs v. Burdine450 U.S. 248, 253 (1981)).



An employee may not show pretext byrfly criticizing the employer’s
decisionmaking processHairston v. VanceSooks 773 F.3d 266, 272 (D.C. Cir. 2014). “Even
if a plaintiff ‘was victimized by poor selection procedures,’ [courts] maysexrondguess an
employer’s personnel decision absent demonstrably discriminatory motlde(§uoting
Fischbach v. D.C. Dep't of Corrs86 F.3d 1180, 1183 (D.C. Cir. 1996)). Rathfitheé plaintiff
must identifyevidence from which a reasonalley could find that the employer’s stated
reasons were ‘phony.”Moeller v. LaFleur 246 F. Supp. 3d 130, 140 (D.D.C. 2017) (quoting
Fischbach 86 F.3d at 1183). In addition, “[tlhe evidence of record must be such that a
reasonable jury could not only disbelieve the employer’s reasons, but conclude thalt the re
reason the employer took a challenged action was a prohibited bker v. Johnsqrv98
F.3d 1085, 1093 (D.C. Cir. 201%ee also Mount v. Johnsali74 F. Supp. 3d 553, 561 (D.D.C.
2016) (“[P]roviding sufficient evidence for a jury to reject the defendant’®neiasnot sufficient
‘if it is nevertheless impossible for a rational factfinder to conclude thenastis
discriminatory.” (quoting Rochon v. Lynchl39 F. Supp. 3d 394, 404 (D.D.C. 2015))).

The D.C. Circuit has clarified that district courts are to abbreviate the cugtorgairy
under certain circumstancedn a Title VII disparatetreatment suit where an employee has
suffered an adverse employment action and an employer has assegigohatés noR
discriminatory reason for the decision, the district court need ant-should net-decide
whether the plaintiff actually made out a prima facie case uvidBionnell Douglas Brady v.
Office of Sergeant at Arm520 F.3d 490, 494 (D.C. Cir. 2008). Instead, “the district court mus
resolve one central questiohtas the employee produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable
jury to find that the employer’s amted nondiscriminatory reasowas not the actual reason and

that the employer intéionally discriminated against the employee on the basis of race, color,



religion, sex, or national origin?ld. To answer this question, district courts consider “all the
evidence, including ‘(1) the plaintiff's prima facie case; (2) any evidencdan#iff presents to
attack the employer’s proffered explanation for its action; and (3) any ffenitence of
discrimination that may be available to the plaintiff (such as independent evioenc
discriminatorystatements or attited on the part of themploye}.” Carter v. George
WashngtonUniv., 387 F.3d 872, 878 (D.C. Cir. 2004) (quotMgterhouse v. District of
Columbig 298 F.3d 989, 99293 (D.C. Cir. 2002)).

IV. ANALYSIS

DOL offers legitimate notiscriminatory reason®r the three hiring decisions under
consideration in this caséamely, DOL assertthat stronger candidates than Mr. Elliott were
selected for eacBranch Chiefposition. Accordingly, the Court must focus its attention on
whether Mr. Elliott has produced sufficient evidence for a reasonable jury tth&hBOL’s
asserted nediscriminatory reasons were not thetual reasons fats hiring decisions and that,
instead DOL intentionally discriminated against Mr. Elliodin the basis of race afod sex.

Plaintiff presents thre@rimary arguments in an attemptfemd offsummary judgment
for DOL. First, Plaintiff argues that triable issues of material fact persist concerning whether M
Wiatrowski truly acted as theelecting official whadecided not to hire him for each of the
positions. SecondPlaintiff asserts thall three selectioprocesses wer@haracterized by
“subjectivity, bias, inconsistency, and the subjective application of subjedteea;t and that,
on that basis, a reasonable jury could concludelfdf's stated reasons for itéring decisions
were pretext.Finally, he contends that DOL'’s failure to retain certain documents retatea
of the hiring decisions warrants an adverse inference against DOL andgissiiiging this case
to a jury. As explaned below, Mr. Elliotthas raisedriable issuesegarding his nonselection for

the Branch Chief for PPposition, but not with respect to his nonselections for the Branch Chief



for SI&P and Branch Chief for DCR positions. Accordingly, the Calftgrant in part and
deny in part DOL’s motion for summary judgment.
A. Branch Chief for DCR

Mr. Elliott contends that twgenuine issues of material fact preclude summary judgment
for DOL on his claim regarding his nonselection for Branch ChiebfoR: (1) whether Mr.
Wiatrowski—not Ms. Harris—acted as a seaténg official for the position an(?) whetheDOL
improperly usedubjective criteria to distinguish amg candidates for the position. The Court
concludes that Mr. Elliott has not raised genuine, triable issuéserdéfore grants summary
judgment forDOL on this claim.

1. Mr. Elliott Has Identified No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding Whether Mr.
Wiatrowski Acted as aSelecting Official

With respect to Mr. Elliott’s nonselection for the position of Branch Chief for @R
first contends tha genuine issue of material fact egigtgarding whetér Mr. Wiatrowski(a
white man), not Ms. Harrig@n African American woman), was the real selecting officiathe
position. Pl.’s Opp’n t®ef.s Mot. for Summ. J. PI's Oppn to MSJ) at 9-13, ECF No. 22-1.
According to Mr. Elliott, Ms. Harris made mere recommendatiaa Mr. Doyle and then to Mr.
Wiatrowski, who had final hiring authority and DOL has masked Mr. Wiatrowskiéstool
“conceal an institutionally subjective and biased desisnaking process.” Pl.’s Oppto MSJ
at 3. Mr. Elliott apparently raises this purported issue in response to DOL'’s argtiraetite
fact that Ms. Harris ian African American, like Mr. Elliott, might undermine his claim of race
discrimination. SeeDef.’s MSJ at 1Xciting Gonda v. Donahqer9 F. Supp. 3d 284 (D.D.C.
2015)). In addition, Mr. Elliott seems to argue that Mr. Wiatrowski was the source of
discrimination and that his participation in the sat processaises the specter of

discrimination. The Court disagrees.



First, Mr. Elliott has identified no genuine dispute regarding Ms. Hardssin the
selection process. DOL regulations define “selecting official” as “a manageiffieral with
the authority to recruit for and select candidates for vacant positions in lusgheization.”

DOL Personnel Regulations Chap. 335; Declaradiodicole Peters (“Peters Decl.”) § 3. Even
under Mr. Elliott’s characterization of events, Ms. Harnshe helped develop the criteria listed
in the vacancy announcement, authored interview questions, interviewed candidates, and
selected a preferred candidatis a selecting officialinder this definition.

Second, Mr. Elliott has identified no genuine dispute regarding Mr. Wiatrowski'grole
the hiring process. No testimony or other evidence suggests that Mr. Wiatreersitied
anyone to apply for the position or identified candidates for the vacancy. At heostcord
shows that Ms. Harris consulted with Mr. Wiatrowski and Mr. Doydie acted & concurring
officials, in DOL parlance-after Ms. Harris had already identified her preferred candid&es.
PeterdDecl. 11 610 (explaining theole of concurring officials in the DOL hiring process);
Harris Aff. at 3 (noting that Mr. Doyle was “the approving official for [hexfestion” for Branch
Chieffor DCF); Wiatrowski Dep51:13-52:21 (acknowledging that Ms. Harris asked Mr.
Wiatrowski for feedback and to sign off on a document justifying the reasorshthbad
selectedMr. Mcintyre for the position oBranch Chief for DCR).Furthermore, DOL does not
dispute that Ms. Harris discussed her selection choice with superiors in lreotcbammand,
namely Mr. Doyle and Mr. WiatrowskiSeeDef.’s Reply at 4ECF No. 24. In sum, nothing on
record supports Mr. Elliott’s insinuation that Mr. Wiatrowski’'s preferentasred the selection
process for Branch Céii for DCRin any meaningful way. Mr. Elliott’s “conclusory

allegations’ and ‘unsubstantiated speculation,’ . . . ‘do not create genuine issuesria mat



fact.”” Mokhtar v. Kerry 83 F. Supp. 3d 49, 61 (D.D.C. 2015) (quotBuanieskie v. Mukasey
540 F. Supp. 2d 190, 200 n.12 (D.D.C. 2008)).

Third, to survive a motion for summary judgment, a “plaintiff must identify evidence
from which a reasonable jury could find that the employer’s stated reasoaphony.”

Moeller, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 140. HEvassuming that Mr. Wiatrowski had served as the “actual”
selecting official becaudds. Harris’s decision constituted only a recommendation, Mr. Elliott
fails to explainexactlywhy this might lead aeasonablgury to infer that DOL’s explanations for
its hiring decision was pretext. The D.C. Circuit has explained that “[p]roviding retaied
information [about a personnel action] once litigation begins does not create a geswenefi
material fact.” Hairston 773 F.3d at 273. Here, further information about Mr. Wiatrowski’s
role in the hiring process in no way undermines Ms. Harris’s explanation forrimgy dkecision,
particularly because, as the Court just explained, there is no evidence thatlowaki did

more than review and concur withs. Harris’s selectionlt is, rather, further inforntgon about

the hiring process.

FurthermoreMr. Elliott has not shown that any dispute about Mr. Wiatrowski’s role in
the selection processnsaterial. Although not artfully presentedfr. Elliott seems to argue that
Mr. Wiatrowski was the source of discrimination and that, if Mr. Wiatrowski@pdied in the
hiring process, a jury could infer that the selection process was tainted seitimahation and,
accordinglythat DOL’s staté reasons for declining ture Mr. Elliott were pretextSeePl.’s
Oppn at 5. Mr. Elliott claims that pury might infer that Mr. Wiatrowski wathe source of
discriminationfrom comments Mr. Wiatrowski purportedly made to Mr. Elliott years ago about

how Mr. Elliott “should be happy” that he has hadgbod careerat DOL and has “reached the



GS13 level.” SeePl.’s Oppn at 5; Elliott Aff. at 17. In addition, Mr. Elliott claims thabn
another occasion Mr. Wiatrowski questioned \eetMr. Elliott “de®rve[d]” an“outstanding
rating” that an immediate supervisor had given Rifal.’s Opp’nat 5; Elliott Aff. at 17.

This argumentails for at least two reasongirst, “[tjhese statements . . . are neither
explicitly racial nor infused with racial undenes based on common usage” and courts in this
jurisdiction have been reluctant to “infer discriminatory intent if the words uttered angypla
lacking in racial animus.’Hairston, 773 F.3d at 256. And, second, the D.C. Circuit has made
clear that'isolated racebased remafk] unrelated to the relevant employment decision c[an]
not, without more, permit a jury to infer discriminatiorMorris v. McCarthy 825 F.3d 658,

669 (D.C. Cir. 201p While such comments are not categorically immaterial, cooss

conclude that, when viewed in the context of other evidence of record, the remarks would not
permit a jury to infer discriminationSeed. at 670—72describing caseshere stray remarks

were insufficient to create a jury question and distinguisb@sgs \Were racially charged
statements were “pervasive[], sever[e],” or where the speaker played &aignible in the

adverse action)Here, @en viewing the evidence in the ligmost favorable to Mr. Elliott-as

2 According to Mr. Elliott,in approximately 2007 or 200Bir. Wiatrowksi made these
commens after Mr. Elliott asked about efforts to further téseer at BLS Elliott Aff. at 17; see
Elliott Dep.28:13-29:8. Mr. Elliott contends that Mr. Wiatrowksi had advised him te|8h\5
explaining that Mr. Elliott would not be promotedtt® GS14 level. Elliott Aff. at 17. Mr.
Elliott also claimstiat two of hiscolleagues reportetiat Mr. Wiatrowski told them that Mr.
Elliott would never be promoted to GS-14, but the record does not show when Mr. Elliott’s
colleagues reported this informatiotdl.

3 At the timethatMr. Wiatrowksi made these alleged commeMs, Harris served as
Mr. Elliott’ s firstline supervisor. Elliott Aff. at 17Ms. Harris had rated Mr. Elliott
“Outstanding,” and Mr. Wiatrowski-Ms. Harris’s firstline supervisor and Mr. Elliott’'s second-
line supervisor—had to sign off on that ratirlg. Mr. Wiatrowski purportedly called Mr.
Elliott into his office and told himl don’t know if you deserve this [rating], but | am going to
go ahead and sign it.ld. The record is not clear on when Mviatrowski allegedly made this
comment



this Court must—no reasonable jury could doubt DOL’s stated reasons for its hirisigmleci
based on these statementhich were unrelated to the hiring process at issuavanel in some
casesdistant in time from it In sum, the Court concludes that Mr. Elliott has failed to identify
any genuinessue of material fact regarding Mr. Wiatrowski’s role in hiring for thanBin Chief
for DCR position.

2. Mr. Elliott Has Identified No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding 8bjectivity in
the Hiring Process

Next, Mr. Elliott argues that the hiringrocess for the position of Branch Chief for DCR
was “characterized bsubjectivity, bias, inconsistency, and the selective application of
subjective criteria.”Pl.’s Opp’nto MSJ at +2, 13-19. Specifally, Mr. Elliott challengedvs.
Harris’sreliance o criteria thahe contends wengot explicitly mentionedn—or that seemetb
him to be inconsistent withthe standards mentionadthe written vaancy announcements.
Pl.’s Opp’n to MSJ at 1319. For example, he takes issue with the faat Ms. Harris idetified
a candidate’s ability to lead and to develop a successful team as “the mosanihgadieria” for
the Branch Chief for DCR position. Pl.’s Opp’n to MSJ at 14-15. He likewise questions Ms.
Harris’s choice talistinguish between “recent” afidated” experience worikg with microdata.
Pl.’s Opp’n to MSJ at 15. The Court concludes that Mr. Elliott has failed to identify any
evidence of subjectivity or arbitrariness in the selection processes gtdthaiprobative of
pretext.

The D.C. Circuit has acknowledged that an employer’s strong reliance on subjective
criteria may, at times, mask discriminatioika v. Washington Hosp. Gt.56 F.3d 1284, 1298
(D.C. Cir. 1998). But the Circuit has also made clear that “employers mayretdaide
subjective considerations into account in their employment decisidds, 5ee alsdHarris v.

Grp. Health Ass'n, In¢.662 F.2d 869, 873 (D.C. Cir. 1981) (“While it is true that subjective



criteria lend themselves to racially discriminatory sdmore readily than do objective criteria,
there nonetheless are situations where employment decisions can, must, and snaule e
the basis of subjective criteria.’Kwon v. Billington 370 F. Supp. 2d 177, 186 (D.D.C. 2005)
(“Title VII's concern hat over reliance on subjective criteria might mask discrimination is not
meant to render performance in an interview as an irrelevant consideratioromneérs
decisions.”). Indeed, the Circuit’s precedents clarify that there atediroircumstances where
the subjectivity of hiring considerations mighat to an inference of pretext.

In Hamilton v. Geithner666 F.3d 1344 (D.C. Cir. 2012), the Circuit found that an
employee’s claims should have survived summary judgment where, among oth&rttieng
employer relied entirely on subjective considerations, such asmicmicatiors skills,” to
evaluatenterview performance; the relevant skills were not emphasized in the jolptescri
the selecting official failed to point to concrete examples of poawears that might have
grounded their subjective assessment in more objective facts; and theredeasewn record
from which a reasonable jury could conclude that the plaintiff was signifjaaire qualified
than the selected edidate. Id. a 1351-57. Similarly, in Aka, the Circuit determined that an
employer could not rely solely on a plaintiff's purported lack of “enthusiasm”plaiexits
hiring decision where a jury could find that the plaintiff was markedly bettdifigddor the job
and a jury could disbelieve the employer’s explanation for its hiring decision. 156 F.3d at 1298—
99. HamiltonandAkaprovide that “[i]t is in these close cases, where the plaintiff's
gualifications were signifiantly better than the selecteghdidate’sthat the subjectivity of
considerations lends itself to the inference of prete®t.”"John v. Napolitan@0 F. Supp. 3d 74,

97 (D.D.C. 2013)see als@lackson v. Gonzale496 F.3d 703, 707 (D.C. Cir. 2007).



This case is unlikelamiltonandAka Most impotantly, Mr. Elliott certainly has not
demonstratethat he was significantly more qualified thislin. Mcintyre, the selectee for Branch
Chief for DCR Mr. Elliott apparently surmises that he was better qualified than Mr. Mcintyre
because Mr. Mcintyre hacdbhworked his entire career in the DOL national office as Mr. Elliott
had. However, irstewart v. Ashcrgf852 F.3d 422 (D.CCir. 2003), the D.C. Circuit rejected
this very same argument as a sufficient means of showing that a plaintiff weaasgjoetified
than a selectedd. at 429 (“[Plaintiff] relies heavily on the fact that he was already an SES
employee, whewes[the selecteelvas not. While this is true, it says little about the level of
relative qualifications betweehd two men to serve as Chief.”). And, in any eveodrts are
not to “second-guess how an employer weighs particular factors in the hirisgpd€eci
Jacksm, 496 F.3d at 709. Thus, this Coaaimotand will not tell DOL what type of experience
it should have valued in conducting its hiring process.n‘¢lses where courts rely on the
subjectivity of the criteria at issue, tbeciding factor on summary judgment is often that ‘a jury
could reasonably find théte plaintiff was otherwise significantly better qualified than the
successful applicant.”St. John20 F. Supp. 3d at 97 (quotiAda 156 F.3d at 1298 This is
because where the differences between candidates are nineasonable juror would usually
assume that the employer is more capable of assessing the significance of areticai$ in
the qualifications of the candidates, or that the employer simply enpayment calt
Holcomb v. Powell433 F.3d 889, 897 (D.C. Cir. 2006) e¢use Mr. Ellidthas failed to show
that he was more qualified than the selectee for this position, his claim canne¢ f2DlLi’s
motion.

Furthermoreit is of limited significane that the vacancy announcement for Branch

Chief for DCR did not mention each and evigtor thathe selecting official considered in



evaluating candidates. The record shows that the subjective criteria orthéhighing officials
relied wereneither unknown nor developed post-hoc. Indeed, the announcement plainly outlined
that all qualified applicants would be evaluated on, among other things, Team Building,
Accountability, Decisiveness, Decision Making/Problem Solving, and PlanningvahaiiEon.
Ex. A at 4, ECF No. 18-2; Ex. K at 4, ECF No. 18-3. And even if DOL strayed froep#uific
criteria written in black and white, it committed no misstep. Dhe. Circuit has explained that
“job descriptions are often phrased in general terms, andgarplthen make the ultimate
hiring decision in light of more specific factersuch as their strategic priorities and goals at the
time, the strengths and weaknesses of the applicant pool, and the overall skills gfsaimd ga
their existing workforce.”Jackson496 F.3d at 708In fact, the Circuihasnoted that “an
employer may select ‘a candidate who on paper is less qualified for othergesisch as
subjective reactions that emerge in the intervieud. at 709 (quotinghka 156 F.3d at 1294 &
n.10). In sum, this is not a situation where the fact that the defendant relied otivaibjec
considerationsaises an inference dfscrimination?
-

Mr. Elliott has not identified any issue of material fact concerning Mr. Wiadkosvrole

in the selectin process for Branch Chief for DCR. The record reveals that Mr. Wiatrowski

played only a minimal role in the selection process, while Ms. Harris’s prefes drove the

4 In addition, unlike inHamiltonandAka, the hiring official in this case provided
concrete examples to expldier subjective assessments. For example, Ms. Harris explained that
while “Mr. Mclintrye focused attention on building, guiding, bringing togethdlalsorating, and
leading people to success,” “Mr. Elliott mainly focused on how he individually accdreglis
assigned taskmostlybut did not present thorough examples which demonstrated his ability to
collaborate with and develop the skills of other staff meral Harris Aff. at 1213. And
relatedly, ncelaborateexplanation is required to explain Ms. Harris’s commonsensical
preference for recent over dated experience.



process. And, in any event, Mr. Elliott has not shown why Mr. Wiatrowski’'s parimmpiat the
hiring process might raise an inference of discrimination. Likewise, NiottEhas failed to
demonstrate that DOL'®liance on subjective criteria distinguish among job applicants
differed fromthe sort of reliance that the D.C. Circh@ssanctioned in the past. Accordingly,
the Court concludes that no reasonable juror could find that DOL discriminated a@ainst
Elliott when it did not select him as Branch Chief for DCR becaeg®er issueindividualy or
jointly, sufficesto overcome DOL’s motion for summary judgment.
B. Branch Chief for SI&P

With respect to his nonselection for Branch Chief for SI&P, Mr. Elliott arguseq1)
Mr. Wiatrowksi was the true selecting official for the positaord that his participation in the
hiring process raises the specter of discrimination; (2) DOL relied on iepsopjective criteria
to distinguish candidates for the position; and (3) Mr. Doyle improperly destroy@udmnview
notes anather materials, which entitles Mr. Elliott to an inference that those materials would
have been favorddto his claim. The Court rejects the first two arguments because Mr. Elliott
has not identified any triable issue concerning Mr. Wiatrowski’'s partioipati the hiring
process for Branch Chief for SI&P and Mr. Elliott has not shown any use of subjettviac
on which areasonablgury might inferdiscrimination. And while the Court concludes that Mr.
Elliott has demonstrated that sombut not all—ef the mateals thatMr. Doyle generated
during the selection process for Branch Chief3&P were improperly destroyed finds that,
even with a favorable inference regarding those materials, Mr. Ellitdtia still cannot survive
summary judgmentAccordingly, the Court grants DOL’s motion with regard to Mr. Ellgott’

claim about this position.



1. Mr. Elliott Has Identified No Genuine Issue of Material Fact RegardingWVhether Mr.
Wiatrowski Acted Asa Selecting Official @ Whether DOL Improperly Used Subjective
Criteria To Evaluate Candidates

Mr. Elliott’s first two arguments for why the Court should not grant summary jedgm
for DOL with respect to his clairmbout his nonselection for Branch Chief for SI&P mirror the
arguments the Courgjectel above regarding Mr. Elliott’s nonselection for the position of
Branch Chief for DCR Specifically, Mr. Elliottargues that there is a genuine isstimaterial
fact regarding whether Mr. Doyle merely recommended candidates to MroWs&atrwho acted
asthe real seleatig official. SeePl.’s Opp’nat 21. Mr. Elliott also argues that the selection
process for this position was characterized by improper consideration aftaugbggiteria. Pl.'s
Oppn at 2. Becausdhe Court has explained in detail aboviey these argunmas fail,
elaborate discussion is unnecessary.

With respect to the first argumethge record reveals no genuine issue regarding whether
Mr. Doyle acted as a selecting official, no genuine issue regarding Mitowski’'s (minor) role
in the selection process, and no reason why a jury might infer discrimination based on Mr
Wiatrowski’'s partcipation in the hiring processsee suprat pp. 11-1%explaining these
deficiencies with respect to Mr. Elliott’s argument about his nonselectiorrémcB Chieffor
DCR).

Regarding the second argument, Mr. Elliott has not stibatrhe is more qualifiethan
theselectee for the position. Mr. Elliott relies on the fact that he worked for tiie eareer in
the unit that Mr. Ranoklernandez was selected tadewhile Mr. Ranon-Hernandez had not
done so.Seeklliott Dep.19:19-25, 20:1-9. As the Court explained abovs,dbntentions
insufficient to demonstrate that Plaintiff is significantly more qualified than MnoRa

Hernandez.SeeStewart 352 F.3d at 429. A plaintiff must make such a showing to establish



that triable issugremain SeeHolcomh 433 F.3d at 89T [A] reasonable juror would usually
assume that the employer is more capable of assessing the significance of tareticai$ in
the qualifications of the candidates, or that the employer simply made a judzatién In
addition,Mr. Elliott has identifiedho evidencehat Defendant’s reliance @ubjective criteria—
indeed criteriaprimarily listed in the vacancy announcemembight be pretext for
discrimination. Seesuprapp. 15-19explaining the circumstances under which an employer
may rely on subjective criteria to distinguish candidates). AccordinglyENoit cannot
overcome summary judgment on these bases.

2. Mr. Elliott Has | dentified No Genuine Isue of Material Fact Regarding the Purported
Destruction of Evidence Related to the Selection Procefgs Branch Chief for SI&P

Mr. Elliott next asserts that DOL failed to properly presemeuhents relatetb the
selectionprocess for Branch Chief for SI&Ppecifically, according to Mr. Elliott, Mr. Doyle
improperly failed to maintain a file, which included notes that he had written duridglese
interviews, and also failed to preserve “other materials,” including (agyb) application
materials forwarded to him Byuman ResourcesPl.’s Opp’nto MSJ at 4Def.’s Reply at 5
Mr. Elliott argues that the purported destruction of this evidence warrantstaveegizrence
against DOL and that, in light of the inference and other favorable evidesctaimshould
survive DOL’s motion for summary judgmentBut Mr. Doyle’s interview notes are in the
record before the Court—and, thus, can hardly be regarded as destroyed+—&tibtt has not
shown how the purported destruction of any other evidence in Mr. Doyle’s file rsigiiish
that the stated reasons for DOL’s hiring decision were pregsodordingly, the Court disagrees
that Mr. Elliott isentitledto bring this claim to trial.

The D.C. Circuit has recogrd that “a negative inference may be justified where the

defendant has destroyed potentially relevant eviden@erlich v. U.S. Dep’t of Justic&11



F.3d 161, 170 (D.C. Cir. 2013). To show entitlement to an adverse inference, the requesting
party must show that:
(1) the party having control over the evidence had an obligation to
preserve it when it was destroyed or altered; (2) the destmumtio
loss was accompanied by @ulpable state of mirnidand (3) the
evidence that was destroyed or altered welgvant’ to the claims
or defenses of the party that sought the discovery of the spoliated
evidence, to the extent that a reasonable factfinder could conclude
that the lost evidence would have supported the claims or defense
of the party that sought it.
Vasser v. ShulkjiNo. 14-0185, 2017 WL 563486&;,*3 (D.D.C. Nov. 22, 2017) (quoting
Mazloum v. D.C. Metro. Police Dep%30 F. Supp. 2d 282, 291 (D.D.C. 2008)).

With regard to the purported destruction of Mr. Doyle’s interview notes, Mr. Elast
failed to make dundamental showing-ramely, Mr. Elliotthas not demonstrated that DOL
destroyed this evidenc®OL admits that “[Mr.] Doyle had at the time of the selection a file that
contained the application materials forwarded to him by Human Resources andrkisvint
notes.” SeeDef.’s Replyat 5 However, DOL argues that “there is no indication that Phillip
Doyle’s records relating to the Branch Chief for [SI&P] position are imigs because
“Doyle’s interview notes for this position were included with hisdaffiit.” Def.’s Reply at 5.
Indeed, Mr. Elliott himself fileca copy of Mr. Doyle’s EEO affidavit. That document includes
an attachment labelled “IntervieMotes PhillipM Doyle,” which is followed by three pages of
handwritten text that appear to be notes from Mr. Doyle’s intervi€eeEx. 9 at 37-40ECF
No. 22-11. Mr. Elliott has not argued-and certainly has not demonstrateithatthesearenot
Mr. Doyle’s notes from his interviews with candidates for the Branch Chief &® bsition,
that these notes were somehow altered, or that any other notes might hade @estause Mr.

Elliott has not provided any reason to believe that spoliation occurred with resrct

Doyle’s notes, no negative inference is warranted.



With regard to théother materials’purportedly in Mr. Doyles file, the Court need not
dwell on whether Mr. Elliott is entitled to a negatiméerence. Asuming that Mr. Elliotis
entitled to such an inference, this is not enowghvbid summary judgment. As the D.C. Circuit
explained inGrosdidier v. BroadBd of Governors709 F.3d 19 (D.C. Cir. 2013), even when
spoliated evidence may have been favorable to the movant, the adverse inferencgorbest al
“sufficient to create a genuine issue of material fatd."at28. In that case, the Circuit
determined that a Title VII plaintiff was entitled to a permissive inferémateshe hagerformed
well during herinterview becauséhe defendant agency had improperly destroyed
contemporaneous notegken by the interview panelistgaluatinghe plaintiff's interview
performance.ld. However, the Circuit nonetheless upheld the district court’s grant of summary
judgment in favor of the agency, observing that “even if a factfinder could reasomi@lthat
the destroyed notes contained information that might be favorable to [the plaiatdijable
evidence is not in all instances equivalent to evidence thativpeuiit [the plaintiff] to survive
summary judgment.ld. An inference that plaintiff had performed well in her interview did not
undermine the defendant agency’s explanation that it had selected a diffechdhizabecause
of that candidate’s knowledge, skills, and abiliti&ee id.

Here, DOL’s explanatiofor its hiring decision revolves squarely on Mr. Elliott’s
purportedly subpar interview performance and Mr. Rademandez’s superior interview
performance. Mr. Elliott has not identified anytipthat might have beein Mr. Doyle’s file—
other than the interview notes discussed abavat-might bear on this matteAn adverse
inference that the destroyed application materials would have been favorableBiiditrgets
him little more tharthe positiveinference that can already be drawn from the fact that Human

Resources forwarded his application materials to Mr. Doyle and he wa®ddteotterview for



the position. Thus, Mr. Doyle’s destructiontbéseapplicationmaterialdends no support to
Mr. Elliott’s argument that DOL’s contentions abdle candidateshterview performanceare
pretext for discrimination.
-

Mr. Elliott has not demonstrated that there exists a genuine issue about Moviskas
role in the hiring process for Branch Chief for SI&P, and Mr. Elliott has, likeeviasled to show
that DOL impermissibly utilized subjective criteria in evaluating applicants for tdsfign.
FurthermorePOL'’s alleged failure to maintain material®fn Mr. Doyle’s file does not create a
genuine issue of material fact sufficient to permit Mr. Elliott to bring this claim to Bietause
no reasonable juror, based on these issues, either individually or combined, could find that DOL
discriminated agast Mr. Elliott when it did not select him for Branch Chief for SI&P, the Court
grants DOL’s motion for summary judgment on this claim.

C. Branch Chief for PPD

As with the first two nonselections descudbabove, Mr. Elliott contends that there are
triable issues about his nonselection for Branch Chief for PPD. Namely, he tHrgugsere are
genuine issues of material fact concerning Mr. Wiatrowski’s role in thestss process and
concerning DOL’s use of subjective criteria to evaluate candidategreviously, the Court
rejects both arguments. The Court, however, agrees with Mr. Elliott’s fopainent regarding
this position: becausé/r. Elliott has shown that DOL improperly destroyed evidence generated
during its selection for Branch Chifefr PPD,heis entitled toan inference that those materials
would have included evidence favorable to his claim, and therefore, on thisMiaiEiliott has

produced sufficient evidence on which a reasonable jaigint conclude that DOL'’s stated



reason fothe hiring decision was pretext. Accordingly, the Court denies DOL’s motion for
summary judgment on this claim.

1. Mr. Elliott Has Identified No Genuine Issue of Material Fact Regarding Wkhether Mr.

Wiatrowski Acted As A Selecting Official or Whether DOL Improperly Used Subjective

Criteria To Evaluate Candidates
Just as with the other positions, Mr. Ellibtst argues that there agenuine issues of

material fact regarding Mr. Wiatrowski’s role in the selection @ssdor the position of Branch
Chief for PPD and regarding Ms. Dickerson’s use of subjective criteria to ts/alhradidates.
SeePl's Oppn to MSJ at 10-12, 18-19. The Court must again reject those arguments. The
record reveals no genuine issue regaydunether Ms. Dickerson acted as a selecting official
and no genuine issue regarding Mr. Wiatrowski’s role as a concurring officiatidition, Mr.
Elliott offers only speculative and unpersuas@ason why a jury might infer discrimination
based on Mr. Wiatrowski’'s participation in the hiring proceSeePl.’s Oppn to MSJ at 5.
And, as the Court explained in detail above, DOL did not misstep in utilizing some subjective
criteria to evaluateandidates for this position. Mr. Elliott offers only cursory arguments to the
contrary. Hdailsto identify any specific instances in which DOL used subjective criteria to
evaluate candidates for Branch CHmf PPD, let éoneexplainwhy the use of subjective criteria
might be improperSeed. at 18-19. Accordinglythese are not bases for denying DOL'’s

motion.

2. Mr. Elliott Is Entitled to a Spoliation Inference and His Claim SurvivesSummary
Judgment

Finally, Mr. Elliott contendghatwhenMs. Dickerson retired, she improperly shredded
notes from interviewghatshehad conducted for the Branch Chief for PPD position. Pl.’s Opp’n
to MSJ at 4.DOL admits that Ms. Dickerson shredded her interview notes when she retired in

July 2016, accordingly the Court need only address whether Mr. Elliott has made #$sangece



showing for an adverse inference and, if so, whether, after considering tleacefar
combination with all of thevidence of record, his claim survives summary judgment. Def.’s
Replyat 5. The Court agrees with Mr. Elliott that DOL had a duty to maitiases records
thatan adverse inference is warranted, and that his damives DOL’s motion for summary
judgment.
As explained above, to show entitlemenatoadverse inferencthe requesting party

must show that:

(1) the party having control over the evidence had an obligation to

preserve it when it was destroyed or altered; (2) the destruction or

loss was accompanied by a ‘culpable state of mind’; and (3) the

evidence that was destroyed or altered was ‘relevant’ to the claims

or defenses of the party that sought the discovery of the spoliated

evidence, to the extent that a reasonable factfinder could conclude

that the lost evidence would have supported the claims or defense

of the party that sought it.
Vasser v. ShulkjiNo. 14-0185, 2017 WL 563486&,*3 (D.D.C. Nov. 22, 2017) (quoting
Mazloum v. D.C. Metro. Police Dep%30 F. Supp. 2d 282, 291 (D.D.C. 2008))c. Elliott has
satisfied each of thesequirements.

First, Mr. Elliott hasshown that DOL had a duty to preserve Ms. Dickerson’s files when

they were destroyedAccording to DOL, Ms. Dickerson waited until her retirement in July 2016
to destroy all of her workelated records, including notes from the interviews that she cauuct
for the Branch Chief for PPposition. Def.’s Reply at 5. DOL appears to contend that Mr.
Elliott is not entitled to an adverse inference because the documents were stwedgks$
after the selectee for the position had been notified of her sele&emef.’s Reply at 5.D0OL
ignores, howevethat“[a] party has a duty to preserve potentially relevant evidence whenever

‘litigation is reasonably foreseeable.Vasser 2017 WL 5634860at*2 (quotingGerlich, 711

F.3d at 170). By July 2016 when Ms. Dickerson shredded her interview notes, Mr. Elliott had



already filed the present action. As litigation was underway, Bi&drlyhad an obligation to
maintain relevant evidence in its possession.

The Court also concludes that Mr. Elliott has satisfied his obligation of showinp¢ha
records were destroyed with the requisite culpable state of mind. “[Tify jiln&t issuance of an
adverse inference instruction, the destruction need not be purposeful, and negligatispoli
suffices.” Vasser 2017 WL 5634860at *6 (quotingMahaffeyv. Marriott Int’l, Inc., 898 F.
Supp. 2d 54, 61 (D.D.C. 2012prosdidier, 709 F.3d at 27 (a spoliation inference is
“appropriate in light of the duty of preservation notwithstanding the fact teatestruction was
negligent”). Thus, inVasserv. Shulkinthis Courtrecentlyconcludedhat the Veteras
Administration had the requisite culpable state of mind to warrant an adversaaafe
instruction when it destroyed documents related to a litigant’s claims puteuangécord control
schedule after litigation had alrealolggun.2017 WL5634860at*6. Ms. Dickerson’s
destruction of her interview notes contravened tiiteed of a party in litigatiorgven if there is
no evidence that she acted in bad faith when she destroyed the records upon hentetireme

Lastly, the Court concludes that Mr. Elliota$ shown that the records were relevant to
his claims. To prove relevance, a party need only show that “a reasonable factiuide
conclude that the lost evidence would have supported the claims or defense of the party that
sought it.” Mazloum 530 F. Supp. 2d at 291. Talavera v. Shal638 F.3d 303 (D.C. Cir.
2011), the D.C. Circuit found that destroyed interview notes were relevant to alTitlaiw
because the agency had defended itssgbection of the plaintiff based on her purportedly poor
performance during an intervievd. at 312. The Circuit explained that “the notes might have
undermined [the] claim that the [selectee] exhibited more knowledge of the joliitban |

plaintiff] did and might also have confirmed [the plaintiff's] assertihat [the selecting official]



asked her different questions than he asked of the men he interviddedlist as iTalaverg
DOL reliesheavily on Mr. Elliott’s purportedly inferior interview performance to explairy vh
did not select hinfior Branch Chief for PPD SeeDef.’'s MSJ at 13 (explaining that “Dickerson
did not select Elliott for this position because, based on his interview respondaskéé
recent economisurveyexperience’). Mr. Elliott might haveusedMs. Dickersonsinterview
notes to undermine DOL’s contentions—for example, by identifying recorded insianegich
he discussed his recent economic survey experience. The Court has no difficuligiogritiat
the interview notes amelevant to Mr. Elliott’s claim In sum, a reasonable jury could conclude
that the non-accidental destruction of interview notes supports an inference tiatethemight
have contained informatiom¥orable to Mr. Elliott’s clain?

Considering the spoliation inference and Mr. Elliott’s other evidence of unlagdrsd
race discriminatior-namely, evidence that the selectee for the positiorawdsite womanpnot
a membenpf the same protected groups as Mr. EllistgDef.’s MSJ at 13-the Court finds that
Mr. Elliott has offered sufficient eglence that DOL’s reasons for failing to select him for the
Branch Chief for PP positionwas pretext.Unlike the materials Mr. Elliott claims that Mr.
Doyle destroyed, Ms. Dickerson'’s interview notes bear directly on thenkegyi of DOL’s
explanation for its hiring decision. Because Mr. Elliott has produced sufficietdrea for a
reasonable jury to find piext, summary judgment is inappropriate. Accordingly, the Court

denies DL’s motion with regard to thislaim.

® Though the Court concludes that an adverse inference is justified, it “certairgy do[e
not suggest that a jury must or should draw an adverse infergiacailton v. Geithner666
F.3d 1344, 1355-56 (D.C. Cir. 2012).



V. CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, the Court finds that Plaintiff has produced suféeidahce
to raise triable issues regardimg nonselection for the Branch Chief for PPD position. Plaintiff
has not, however, raised such issegmrdinghis nonselectionfor the Branch Chief for DCR
and the Branch Chief for SI&P positions. Accordingly the Court grants in part and depit
DOL’s motionfor summary judgment. An order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is
separately and contemporaneously issued.

Dated: January 26, 2018 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge



